THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000071

Tiffany N. Provence, as Special Administrator for the Estate of Jose Refugio Licona Larios,..... Appellant,

v.

Dominion Energy South Carolina f/k/a South Carolina Electric & Gas Company,.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

YARBOROUGH APPEL GATE LLC
William E. Applegate, IV
Liam D. Duffy
Perry M. Buckner, IV
291 East Bay Street, Floor 2
Charleston, SC 29401
843-972-0150

SMITH, ROBINSON, HOLLER, DUBOSE,
AND MORGAN, LLC
G. Murrell Smith, Jr.
Shannon N. Peake
Post Office Box 580
Sumter, SC 29151-0580

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether Dominion Energy waived the ability to argue or request judicial review of the sufficiency of damages evidence when it failed to contest the evidence at trial.
- II. Whether the lower court committed an error of law by improperly considering economic damages in its decision to grant a new trial absolute when the Estate did not ask for economic damages.
- III. Whether the lower court committed errors of law and reached a decision wholly unsupported by the evidence in finding the survival damages grossly excessive.
- IV. Whether the lower court committed errors of law and reached a decision wholly unsupported by the evidence in finding the wrongful death damages grossly excessive.
- V. Whether the lower court erred in finding the alleged excessiveness of the verdict could only be explained by the jury acting out of passion or a consideration outside of the evidence when a jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions and the court did not identify a trial event, evidence item, juror confusion, or disregard of the instructions.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting a new trial absolute where the jury returned an actual damages verdict with comparative fault attributable to the Plaintiff and found no basis for punitive damages. The case arises out of the death of forty-one-year-old Jose Larios on November 29, 2015, when a Dominion Energy power line shocked him while he was trimming a palm tree, and the shock caused him to fall twenty-five feet from a ladder.

On June 7, 2017, Tiffany N. Provence, as Special Administrator for the Estate of Jose Refugio Licona Larios, (“the Estate”) filed a complaint against Dominion Energy South Carolina f/k/a South Carolina Electric & Gas Company (“Dominion Energy”),¹ and other defendants, asserting negligence/gross negligence, wrongful death, and survival causes of action. (R. pp. 23-30). On July 11, 2017, Dominion Energy filed an answer denying all of the allegations. (R. pp. 31-39).

¹ At trial, the parties referred to the Respondent as “SCE&G.” In this case, SCE&G and Dominion Energy are the same entity and used interchangeably in the Record and briefs.

The trial occurred September 24-27, 2019, before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo. The jury returned a verdict for the Estate. It found Dominion Energy's breach of a duty of care to Jose proximately caused his injuries and death, and assigned 10% comparative fault to Jose. (R. pp. 98-99). The jury awarded \$10,000,000.00 in survival damages and \$11,000,000.00 in wrongful death damages. (R. p. 99). It found Dominion Energy's conduct did not warrant punitive damages. *Id.*

On October 7, 2019, Dominion Energy filed a motion for new trial *nisi remittitur* or, in the alternative, new trial absolute, and a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and, in the alternative, a new trial. (R. pp. 100-80). On October 18, 2019, the Estate filed memoranda in opposition to Dominion Energy's motions. (R. pp. 181-244). The lower court held a hearing on the motions on October 24, 2019.

On November 1, 2019, the lower court filed an order granting the motion for a new trial absolute based on the amount of the verdict. (R. pp. 3-11). On November 12, 2019, the Estate filed a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend the order. (R. pp. 245-64). On November 22, 2019, Dominion Energy filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion. (R. p. 265). On December 19, 2019, the lower court filed a Form 4 order denying the motion to reconsider. (R. p. 13). On January 17, 2020, the Estate filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 1).

FACTS

Jose Larios was born and raised in Mexico, a talented soccer player with a younger brother and two loving parents, Jose, Sr., and Anastacia. (R. pp. 621, 633, 635-36). Jose's parents lost two children earlier in life, leaving only Jose and his younger brother, Gaspar Larios. (R. p. 634). Jose was the first and only person in his family to finish high school and attend university. (R. pp. 621-22). He paid for university by working multiple jobs, including as a dishwasher and teaching assistant. (R. p. 635). Jose also earned money playing soccer because soccer teams in Mexico paid

him to play on their teams. (R. pp. 635-36). Jose “did a lot to try to make ends meet and to make sure that he was not [] a burden on his family, [and] was instead providing support to them.” (R. p. 636). Gaspar also worked to help pay for Jose to finish school. (R. p. 621). Jose earned his law degree. (R. p. 622). Financial requirements for licensure prevented him from being able to practice law. *Id.* To earn money, he came to the United States of America to build a life for himself and provide for his family. “[H]e was always putting things on hold to help others.” (R. p. 638).

As an immigrant, Jose worked his way through Florida and Georgia, picking oranges and tobacco despite his graduate education. (R. p. 623). Eventually Jose moved to Edisto Island to reunite with his brother. (R. pp. 622-23). Jose lived with Gaspar and Gaspar’s wife and three children in a home that Jose helped purchase. (R. pp. 616, 623). Jose hoped to settle down and have a family and children of his own. (R. p. 573). He was especially close to his niece, Wendy, who was about nine-years-old when he died. (R. pp. 560, 617, 627, 959).

On Edisto Island, Jose worked for a landscaping company for almost ten years. (R. p. 560). He also worked a lot of side jobs to earn money to send to his family in Mexico. (R. pp. 562, 622-23, 633). Jose was “always happy working” and “worked tirelessly to support his family including his parents and his family here.” (R. pp. 628, 633). At times, Jose sent his entire paycheck home to support his parents. (R. p. 635). “He was able to earn here and send the money so that they could provide for their needs, including medical needs.” *Id.* His parents “were incredibly proud of him.” *Id.*

I. JOSE SUFFERS AN ELECTRIC SHOCK THAT CAUSED HIM TO FALL FROM A LADDER, AND DIES FROM HIS INJURIES

On the morning of November 29, 2015, Jose and his friend, Pedro Abraham, picked up equipment from the landscaping company to do a palm tree trimming job at a residential vacation rental home on Edisto Island. (R. p. 524). Jose used a ladder to reach the top of the trees and tied

himself to each tree for safety. (R. p. 525). He used a chainsaw to trim the trees. Mr. Abraham's job was to pick up the cut palm fronds and take them to the road and to refill, oil, and tighten the chainsaw as needed. (R. p. 525). While Jose was on the ladder cutting a tree, Mr. Abraham saw a flash of light, heard "a loud scream," looked up and "saw a lot of smoke." (R. pp. 375, 527). He yelled up to Jose but got no response. (R. p. 527). He saw Jose trying to unbuckle himself and untie the rope attached to the tree but noticed that Jose's head "was kind of in a downward position" and he was "without strength." (R. p. 527). Mr. Abraham knew Jose "wasn't fine at that point." (R. p. 527). Jose "tried to go down to the next step of the ladder" but "he didn't have anymore strength in his body, [and] that's when he fell backwards" about twenty-five feet to the ground. (R. pp. 527, 542, 374-76). Mr. Abraham went to Jose and lifted his head. (R. p. 528). Jose was conscious and told Mr. Abraham he was fine. (R. p. 529). Mr. Abraham realized Jose was not fine and tried to call 9-1-1 with his phone but did not have a good signal. (R. pp. 528-29). He went to the road and stopped a lady exercising to ask her to call 9-1-1. (R. p. 528). When Mr. Abraham returned, Jose was unable to verbally respond. (R. p. 529). The ambulance arrived eight minutes later. (R. p. 528). When Gaspar first learned about Jose's fall, he went to the house where the incident occurred, and a fireman told him Jose "was well" but would not let Gaspar ride in the ambulance. (R. p. 625). Gaspar followed the ambulance to the hospital but was not allowed to see Jose until after he was pronounced dead at 11:49 a.m., about two hours after his fall. (R. pp. 625, 948). Jose was forty-one-years-old.

Gaspar called his parents to tell them about Jose's death. (R. pp. 625-26). His father started crying over the phone and the whole family knew that meant something serious happened. (R. p. 626). When his mother found out about Jose's death, she repeatedly called his cell phone hoping he would answer. (R. p. 626). Gaspar would answer Jose's phone and tell her "No Mom. It's

me, Gaspar.’ And she would start crying.” (R. p. 626). As a result of Jose’s death, his father stopped working and his mother became sick and grief-stricken. (R. p. 627).

After Jose’s death, a friend put together a fundraiser to raise money to send his body back to his family in Mexico. (R. pp. 570, 626, 955). “Those that couldn’t make it, they donated money. The stores donated food, groceries, whatever we needed. Drinks. Everybody kind of pitched in . . . Everything was donated because everybody liked Jose. Jose was a good person.” (R. pp. 570-71). A memorial concrete bench was also built in his honor on Edisto Island, and people still visit the site to pray for Jose. (R. pp. 575-76, 956-57).

Beverly O’Brien met Jose around 2007 and worked with him at the landscaping company. (R. pp. 559-60). She helped organize the fundraiser to send his body back to Mexico. Beverly testified about Jose’s character and the loss of his life to his family and friends.

He was a very good person. He was more concerned about other people than he was himself. He loved his family. He was a family man. . . . He would send his mother money in Mexico. He would usually give me the money, I would stop at a store in Ravenel in like a little Mexican store and wire his family money. . . . Sometimes it was every couple of weeks. Sometimes it was more often. He would do a lot of side jobs after work. He was a workaholic. If he would have extra money, he would want to sent it to his mother and his family in Mexico. . . . Sometimes it would [be] 200, 300, 400, it all depends on what he had to send.

(R. pp. 561-62). Ms. O’Brien knew Jose’s family and said his “niece, Wendy, that was his pride and joy. He made sure she had anything she wanted. He loved children and especially Wendy.” (R. p. 560).

Jose’s body returned to Mexico and was buried about a week before Christmas 2015. (R. p. 637). Jose was “a local hero in the sense that he was so well-known for his soccer and for the care that he gave his family.” (R. pp. 636-37). Gaspar likes to “say that my brother is in Mexico. That my brother is with my family in Mexico and he’s enjoying life there with them.” (R. p. 627).

II. INVESTIGATION OF JOSE'S INJURIES AND DEATH

The Colleton County coroner's office determined Jose fell from the ladder because he suffered an electric shock from the Dominion Energy power line running through the palm trees. Marion Whaley, the Deputy Coroner for Colleton County, went to the accident scene a few hours after Jose fell. (R. p. 372). During his initial 2-to-3-hour investigation of the accident site, Mr. Whaley did not notice any power lines near the palm tree. (R. pp. 373, 376). Two days later, Mr. Whaley learned that Mr. Abraham saw a flash and heard Jose scream. (R. p. 375). Mr. Whaley then returned to the scene and found the power lines. (R. p. 376). The discovery of the power lines led Mr. Whaley to find a burn mark on the chainsaw, burn marks on the palm fronds, and a seed pod that caught on fire. (R. pp. 375-76, 384).

Dr. Erin Presnell, an expert forensic pathologist at the Medical University of South Carolina, performed the autopsy of Jose and found extensive injuries. Jose suffered fourteen fractured ribs—seven on the left side and seven on the right side. (R. p. 435). He had over 150 milliliters of blood in the left chest cavity and 200 milliliters in the right chest cavity. (R. p. 435). His liver and kidneys were lacerated. *Id.* He suffered a broken back and had 150 milliliters of blood in his abdomen and soft tissue bleeding and hemorrhages from trauma. *Id.* Dr. Presnell also found a lesion over an inch-and-a-half long on Jose's abdomen that is a red area where the top layer of skin slipped off. (R. pp. 435, 953). This is where the electrical contact occurred. (R. p. 437). Medical staff attempted emergency resuscitation on Jose using an endotracheal tube and defibrillator. (R. pp. 440, 949). Based on the autopsy findings and Mr. Whaley's investigation, the Chief Deputy Coroner for Colleton County found blunt force trauma the cause of death and the electric shock contributory. (R. pp. 358, 949, 952).

III. TRIAL OF THE CASE ON LIABILITY AND NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES

On June 7, 2017, the Estate filed a complaint against Dominion Energy; PENSICO Trust Company, LLC; Edisto Sales & Rentals Realty, LLC; DLL Operating Co., Inc.; Stevens Irrigation and Landscaping, LLC; and William J. Stevens. (R. p. 23). Prior to and during trial, the Estate voluntarily dismissed or settled with all defendants except Dominion Energy. The Estate tried causes of action for negligence/gross negligence, wrongful death, and survival. (R. pp. 27, 29-30).

The Estate tried this case on a non-economic, intangible damages theory. It did not try to prove or ask the jury to return an actual damages verdict for things such as medical expenses, lost income, or funeral costs. In opening statement, the Estate explained to the jury the theory of intangible, non-economic damages it intended to prove. (R. pp. 324-27).

What are damages in this case? One of the damages is what we call a survival damage and the judge will explain this to you. But it's just a damage that's associated with that experience of being shocked, being sent to the ground, in that time period the fear, the anxiety, the thought process that's going through your head as you die. So whatever that two hours of period of time that he went through suffering, what is that worth?

...

The other damage is for the harms and losses to the family. You need to think about the impact on Jose's parents. How has this impacted them? The reality of the loss of Jose's society, of his companionship, the mental anguish for them to suffer on a daily basis knowing that with the simplest of acts, the simplest precautions, this could have been avoided.

(R. pp. 324-25). Dominion Energy did not discuss damages in its opening statement except to concede "[t]here is also *no dispute* that [Jose's] family no doubt feels a *tremendous* loss. And, frankly, I think everyone is sympathetic with that." (R. p. 330) (emphasis added). The verdict form specifically refers to only non-economic losses as the damages to be awarded for survival and wrongful death. (R. p. 99) (instructing the jury to state damages "for any conscious pain and suffering" and for "grief, sorrow, mental shock, suffering, and the loss of his companionship").

Dominion Energy focused exclusively on liability throughout trial. It defended liability by arguing the power line was openly visible and that it was not physically possible for Jose to get close enough to the power line to contact it. (R. pp. 642-45). Dominion Energy also argued Jose was comparatively negligent by working in close proximity to a power line in violation of applicable OSHA standards. (R. pp. 646-48). The Estate presented evidence that Jose fell from the ladder because of an electric shock from Dominion Energy's power line that was located too close to the adjacent palm trees and was not easily visible because of overgrown tree vegetation. Dominion Energy's policy and industry standards mandate that trees are to be trimmed a minimum of 10 feet back from nearby power lines. (R. p. 491). Dominion Energy's policies state it will conduct "mid-cycle" pruning near its power lines for vegetation that grows back in less than five years. (R. p. 593). Edward Brill, the Estate's expert in electric shock and electrocutions and the standard of care for electric utilities, testified the palm tree at issue did not meet Dominion Energy's guidelines for trimming trees a minimum of 10 feet back from a high voltage electricity line. (R. pp. 474-75, 491, 493-94). Mr. Brill testified Jose fell off the ladder because "he was exposed to an electrical shock and that this electrical shock caused him to basically fall back out of the tree." (R. p. 476).

At trial, numerous witnesses testified about Jose's character and the tremendous loss to his parents of a third child, of whom they were extremely proud and who supported them emotionally and financially. Gaspar testified that, after his brother's death, his mother called Jose's cell phone hoping he would answer. (R. p. 626). She is now medicated and his father stopped working and just sits around. (R. pp. 626-27). Gaspar testified about Jose's constant state of happiness. (R. p. 628). "[M]y brother was always happy. We had all kinds of goals. He had a dream he wanted to have his own family. He wanted to have his own children. He wanted to buy property in Mexico

so he could build a stadium for children, for the young people.” (R. p. 628). Jose’s parents could not attend the trial due to health conditions and the cost of travel. (R. p. 637). The Special Administrator testified Mr. and Mrs. Larios suffered a devastating emotional loss. (R. p. 638). Jose “was a dedicated family man” who “worked tirelessly to support his family including his parents and his family here.” (R. p. 633). Dominion Energy deliberately chose not to cross-examine any witnesses on the issue of damages. (R. pp. 576-84, 629, 640).

Following the close of the Estate’s case, Dominion Energy made a motion for a directed verdict arguing about only liability—that the Estate failed to prove Jose suffered an electric shock, Dominion Energy did not owe a duty to Jose, it did not proximately cause his injuries because they were caused by intervening negligence of Jose and/or his employer, and Jose was negligent and assumed the risk. (R. pp. 643-44). The lower court denied the motion. (R. pp. 654-55).

After the court denied the directed verdict motion, Dominion Energy called three witnesses—a liability expert, a Dominion Energy lineman, and an employee of the realty company that rents the house where the electric shock occurred. These witnesses testified about only liability and not damages.

Dominion Energy renewed its directed verdict motion at the close of its case in chief, arguing the same grounds as before and adding that the Estate did not present “credible evidence” of survival damages for conscious pain and suffering or any evidence of funeral and medical expenses. (R. p. 760). The Court denied the motion but agreed to not charge the jury on funeral and medical expenses. (R. p. 761). The Estate did not argue this point because it did not intend to ask the jury to award economic damages. *Id.*

The Estate's closing argument focused on liability and damages. (R. pp. 766-68). It specifically discussed the survival and wrongful death damages. (R. p. 785). As to survival, the Estate argued:

What it was for Mr. Larios when he hit the ground. When he was struggling and grasping for the last moments of life in those two hours that he lived, the fear that went through his mind, the pain he felt in his body and you need to put a value on what this is worth.

(R. p. 785). As to wrongful death, the Estate asked "what is the loss of a son?" (R. p. 782). The Estate provided hypotheticals such as how much money Jose's parents would require to sacrifice their son or how much they would pay to bring him back. (R. pp. 785-86). Counsel for the Estate told the jury "at the end of the day after looking at all the evidence and thinking about the damages in this case, is the value \$5,000,000? Is it \$10,000,000? Is it \$20,000,000? That is for you to decide. That's the province of the jury." (R. p. 787). Dominion Energy made no objection to the Estate's closing argument. (R. pp. 766-88, 841).

Dominion Energy did not mention damages once in its closing argument. (R. pp. 788-811). It did not make any argument to the jury about the amount or quality of evidence of damages. *Id.* Dominion Energy only conceded again that "the loss of Mr. Larios is tragic. And our sincere condolences go to this family." (R. p. 788).

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