THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000071

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 21 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Tiffany N. Provence, as Special Administrator for the Estate  
of Jose Refugio Licona Larios, .....Appellant,

v.

Dominion Energy South Carolina f/k/a South Carolina Electric & Gas Company, .....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.**

Tracey C. Green  
930 Richland Street (29201)  
Post Office Box 8416  
Columbia, SC 29202  
803-771-2128

**RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.**

Steven J. Pugh

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

As the thirteenth juror, the trial court has broad discretion to, in effect, “hang the jury by refusing to agree to the jury’s otherwise unanimous verdict.” *Norton*, 350 S.C. at 478, 567 S.E.2d at 854. The trial court’s discretion in this matter is broad:

A trial judge’s order granting or denying a new trial upon the facts will not be disturbed unless his decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law. When an order granting a new trial is before this Court, our review is limited to the consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court’s order.

*Folkens*, 300 S.C. at 254–55, 387 S.E.2d at 267 (internal citations omitted). Moreover, a directed verdict motion based on insufficiency of the evidence is not a prerequisite to filing a motion for a

new trial upon the facts. *McEntire*, 353 S.C. at 632-33, 578 S.E.2d at 747-48. As shown below, the trial court was acting as the thirteenth juror in ordering a new trial absolute and Appellant failed to challenge this aspect of the trial court's order on appeal.

**A. The trial court was acting as the thirteenth juror when it ordered a new trial absolute.**

A review of the Order shows that the trial court granted a new trial absolute in its capacity as the thirteenth juror. This was entirely proper and, indeed, required because DESC moved for a new trial based on the thirteenth juror doctrine in addition to the motion for new trial absolute.

***i. Appellant has conceded that the thirteenth juror issue was before the trial court and that the trial court was acting as the thirteenth juror in ordering a new trial absolute.***

In its Motion for JNOV or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial (“JNOV Motion for New Trial”), and in its Memorandum in Support of the JNOV Motion for New Trial (the “JNOV Supporting Memo”), DESC requested a new trial absolute under Rule 59(a)(1). *See* (**R. p. 100**) (JNOV Mot. for New Trial at 1); (**R. pp. 104, 134**) (JNOV Supp. Mem. at 1, 31). In addition, DESC's JNOV Supporting Memo repeatedly referenced the thirteenth juror doctrine as another basis for its request for a new trial absolute. *See* (**R. pp. 134-37**) (JNOV Supp. Mem. at 31-34). The primary argument asserted in the JNOV Motion for New Trial, as specifically detailed in the JNOV Supporting Memo, was that “Plaintiff did not introduce evidence that would allow the finder of fact to find in favor of Plaintiff.” *See* (**R. p. 100**) (JNOV Mot. for New Trial at 1).<sup>4</sup>

In its separate Motion for New Trial *Nisi Remittitur* or, in the Alternative, for New Trial Absolute, and Incorporated Memorandum in Support (“Second Motion for New Trial”), DESC similarly requested a new trial absolute under Rule 59(a) and incorporated, by express reference,

---

<sup>4</sup> DESC's earlier Motion for Directed Verdict (made in open court on September 26, 2019). (**R. pp. 642-44**) (Tr. 514-516), and Memorandum in Support of same (filed on September 26, 2019) was made on the same grounds: “Plaintiff has failed to introduce evidence that would allow the finder of fact to find in favor of Plaintiff.” (**R. p. 76**) (Mem. in Supp. of Motion for Directed Verdict at 1).

the arguments contained in its contemporaneously filed JNOV Motion for New Trial. *See* (**R. p. 167**) (Second Mot. for New Trial at 1). The primary arguments asserted in the Second Motion for New Trial were: (1) *nisi remittitur* was appropriate “because the jury’s damage awards were excessive, especially in light of the extremely minimal—essentially non-existent—evidence of actual damages and (2) alternatively, a new trial absolute was required “because the jury’s damage awards were grossly excessive in view of the actual evidence of damages, so much so that the awards are presumptively the result of passion, caprice, prejudice, or other improper influence.” *See* (**R. p. 167**) (*id.* at 1).

Appellant recognized the application of the thirteenth juror doctrine in her arguments to the trial court. Specifically, although her Memorandum in Opposition to DESC’s JNOV Motion for New Trial never referenced Rule 59, Appellant did reference the thirteenth juror doctrine, arguing that “[t]he Court should decline SCE&G’s invitation to ‘hang’ the jury as thirteenth juror because there is no legal or factual justification for doing so and the evidence supports the verdict.” *See* (**R. p. 194**) (Pl.’s Mem. in Opp. to DESC’s JNOV Mot. for New Trial at 14). Likewise, Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to DESC’s Second Motion for New Trial never referenced Rule 59.

At the hearing on post-trial motions, including the JNOV Motion for New Trial and the Second Motion for New Trial, DESC’s attorney argued that the verdict could not be sustained “for the multiple reasons outlined in our papers, our post-trial motions and accompanying memorandum,” which motions and memoranda included requests for new trial absolute under both Rule 59(a)(1) and the thirteenth juror doctrine. (**R. p. 894**) (Post-Trial Motions Hrg. Tr. 5). In response, Plaintiff’s counsel again referenced the thirteenth juror doctrine during his argument, (**R. p. 919**) (Post-Trial Motions Hrg. Tr. 30), but never mentioned Rule 59.

On appeal, Appellant does not mention Rule 59. However, her brief does reference the thirteenth juror doctrine, specifically noting that “Dominion Energy’s Motion for New Trial under the thirteenth juror doctrine asked the court to set aside the verdict because there was ‘virtually no credible evidence or admissible testimony to establish the nature and extent of any economic or non-economic damages that Mr. Larios’ legal survivors and beneficiaries may have suffered.’” App.’s Br. at 18. Viewed in this light, Appellant has conceded that the trial court acted as the thirteenth juror when it granted a new trial absolute.

*ii. The trial court acted as the thirteenth juror when it granted a new trial absolute.*

A review of the Order demonstrates that the trial court was acting as the thirteenth juror when it granted the new trial absolute. To be sure, the trial court evaluated whether the verdicts were based on “sympathy, passion, caprice or some other consideration found outside the evidence that is presented in this case.” (**R. p. 4**) (New Trial Order at 2). But the trial court repeatedly evaluated whether the verdict was “supported by the evidence,” which is the thirteenth juror analysis.

Specifically, the trial court found that the “verdicts ... [are] not supported by the evidence.” (**R. p. 4**) (New Trial Order at 2). For the survival action, it fully reviewed the evidence and noted that there was “no evidence of what [medical and related] expenses were incurred,” “no evidence setting forth what [funeral] expenses were,” and that the “medical damages incurred by Plaintiff were left to the jury’s speculation.” (**R. p. 5**) (New Trial Order at 3). The trial court noted the lack of evidence regarding “the nature, level, and extent of pain” suffered by Mr. Larios, that there was “little evidence [he] was conscious for very long after the incident,” that the record “is completely void of times as to when the fall occurred, how long EMS worked on Mr. Larios before putting him into the ambulance, or how long after he actually died was he officially pronounced dead.” (**R. pp. 6-7**) (New Trial Order at 4-5).

This analysis of the evidence continued for the wrongful death action. The trial court noted “the lack of evidence in the record of recoverable damages suffered by Plaintiff.” (**R. p. 7**) (New Trial Order at 5). The trial court noted that there was “little, if any, evidence of pecuniary loss,” no “evidence of his earnings, holdings, or assets,” and the “only evidence . . . regarding Mr. Larios’s earning capacity is that he worked for a landscaping company maintaining yards and properties.” (**R. p. 8**) (New Trial Order at 6). The trial court also noted that there was “no evidence that Mr. Larios had even seen his parents since he moved to the United States” and “no evidence that Mr. Larios had any intention to return to Mexico to see his parents or that he had even seen them since he left Mexico.” (**R. p. 9**) (New Trial Order at 7). And the Court noted that, “[w]hile an amount for these types of damages could possibly be ascertained from the evidence in the record, it is beyond this Court’s comprehension that the amount of damages under this evidence could even remotely approach \$11 million.” (**R. p. 10**) (New Trial Order at 8).

In sum, throughout its analysis, the trial court focused on the question of whether the evidence supported the verdict as rendered. *See, e.g., McEntire*, 353 S.C. at 633, 578 S.E.2d at 748. Although the Order references the standard of whether the damages are grossly excessive and are the product of passion, a review of the Order demonstrates that the trial court made that analysis based on an assessment of whether the verdict was supported by the evidence; i.e., whether it was against a fair preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* And the fact that the trial court did not expressly address that standard or style the Order in that regard is not determinative; the question is the analysis that it used in adjudicating the issue. *See Sorin Equip. Co. v. Firm, Inc.*, 323 S.C. 359, 363-64, 474 S.E.2d 819, 822 (Ct. App. 1996). The determinative factor in considering whether the trial court acted as the thirteenth juror is whether the language indicates that it thought that the evidence does not support the verdict. *See Trivelas*, 357 S.C. at 551-52, 593 S.E.2d at 507-08

(holding that language that “evidence did not justify the verdict” reflected application of the thirteenth juror doctrine). Moreover, as recognized by the *Trivelas* court, it is necessary to determine what the trial court did by reference to its action and by its reference to the order as a whole. *Id.*, 357 S.C. at 552, 593 S.E.2d at 508 (citing, *inter alia*, *State v. Evans*, 354 S.C. 579, 584, 582 S.E.2d 407, 410 (2003) (“holding an appellate court must view the circuit court’s statements as a whole to determine its reasoning”)).

Evaluating the trial court’s order as a whole, as is required, leads to the conclusion that the trial court acted as the thirteenth juror in granting a new trial absolute. Moreover, it is well settled in this state that the trial court has the authority and responsibility to grant a new trial when, in his judgment, the verdict of the jury is contrary to the fair preponderance of the evidence. *Adams v. Duffie*, 244 S.C. 365, 366, 137 S.E.2d 276, 276 (1964); *see also Anderson Truck Lines, Inc.*, 235 F. Supp. at 1012 (“[The Court] is mindful of the discretion, the responsibility, of the Court, on the question of the sufficiency, insufficiency, or excess of a jury’s verdict.”). “In South Carolina the trial judge has, by reason of the common law, thirteenth-juror authority to see that justice is done in every case. For example: the court may order a new trial if the judge is not satisfied with the justice even after a jury verdict.” *Rock Smith Chevrolet, Inc. v. Smith*, 309 S.C. 91, 93, 419 S.E.2d 841, 842 (Ct. App. 1992). The trial court, sitting as the thirteenth juror charged with the duty of seeing that justice is done, has the authority to grant new trials when he is convinced that a new trial is necessitated on the basis of the facts in the case. *Vinson*, 324 S.C. at 403, 477 S.E.2d at 722.

Because the trial court actually ordered a new trial absolute in its capacity as the thirteenth juror, this court should affirm the order. A review of the Order shows that the trial court evaluated the evidence presented to the jury, disagreed with the verdict because it was not supported by the evidence, and hung the jury as the thirteenth juror. *See Norton*, 350 S.C. at 478, 567 S.E.2d at 854.

As fully shown by a review of the Order and of the entire record, there is a conflict in the facts regarding the appropriate measure of damages. *See Clarkson*, 267 S.C. at 127, 226 S.E.2d at 698. That is, the trial court properly determined that, for the reasons fully explained in its order, the evidence did not support the return of a verdict totaling \$21 million. *See, e.g., Trivelas*, 357 S.C. at 550, 593 S.E.2d at 507 (affirming order of new trial as thirteenth juror because finding that motorist's negligence did not exceed 50% was not the only inference that could be drawn from the record). Because there is evidence to support the trial court's determination and it is not controlled by an error of law, the Order must be affirmed. *E.g., Norton*, 350 S.C. at 478-79, 567 S.E.2d at 854 (noting that "[t]his Court's 'review is limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court's order.'") (quoting *Folkens*, 300 S.C. at 255, 387 S.E.2d at 267).

**B. By also failing to raise as an issue or argue on appeal that the trial court erred in granting a new trial as the thirteenth juror, the trial court's order granting a new trial absolute must be affirmed under the two-issue rule.**

Appellant has not challenged the grant of a new trial absolute in the trial court's capacity as the thirteenth juror. As noted above, the thirteenth juror doctrine was part of DESC's post-trial motions, which Appellant acknowledged below based on her arguments to the Court. But she never raised any issue with respect to standards actually used by the trial court in her motion to reconsider and, thus, has failed to preserve that issue. *See Brinkley*, 386 S.C. at 186 n.1, 687 S.E.2d at 56 n.1 ("Brinkley also asserted in oral argument that the circuit court committed an error of law when it improperly melded the standards for granting a new trial based on the excessiveness of the verdict or the thirteenth juror doctrine. Because Brinkley neither filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion asking the circuit court to address the alleged error in the application of two legal remedies in its order, nor included this argument in its brief to this court, we find the argument is not preserved for our review.").

Before this Court, Appellant notes that DESC's post-trial motions included a motion for a new trial on the basis of the thirteenth juror doctrine. App.'s Br. at 18. Yet, she does not challenge the thirteenth juror doctrine as a separate issue before this Court. *See* App.'s Br. at 1; Rule 208(b)(1)(B) ("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issue on appeal."). She also fails to analyze the standards applicable to the thirteenth juror analysis and never argues that it was improper for the trial court to grant DESC's motion on that basis. Consequently, Appellant has abandoned any challenge to the trial court's grant of a new trial absolute in its capacity as the thirteenth juror. *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P'ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, n.3, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285, n.3 (Ct. App. 1993) ("[A]n issue is deemed abandoned on appeal and, therefore, not presented for review, if it is argued in a short, conclusory statement without supporting authority.").

Beyond abandoning her argument on appeal, Appellant's failure to challenge the grant of a new trial absolute with respect to the thirteenth juror doctrine requires affirming the decision below. *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012) ("[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case."); *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case."); *see also* Rule 220(c), SCACR ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal."). Significantly, the two-issue rule "is applicable under [] circumstances on appeal [other than general jury verdicts], including affirmance of orders of trial courts ... if the plaintiff failed to appeal [all] grounds or if one of the grounds required affirmance." *Anderson v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 322 S.C. 417, 420 n.1, 472 S.E.2d 253, 255

n.1 (1996). Because DESC moved for the grant of a new trial under the standards for a new trial absolute and under the thirteenth juror doctrine, but Appellant never challenges the trial court's order with respect to the doctrine, the decision below must be affirmed pursuant to the two-issue rule.

### **Conclusion**

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should affirm the trial court's order granting a new trial absolute.